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          1  PUBLIC SAFETY AND HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Welcome,

          3  everyone, to this joint hearing of the Public Safety

          4  Committee and Housing and Buildings.

          5                 I was going to apologize for there

          6  being a lack of air conditioning, but everybody

          7  should know that the air conditioning is controlled

          8  by the Mayor's side, not the Council's side. We have

          9  been working with the Mayor's DCAS to try to get

         10  this going. They tell us they're working on it.

         11  We'll see if they're as good as their word.

         12                 Under the timetable proposed by

         13  Governor Pataki for the development of the Freedom

         14  Tower, by this time in 2005 the Foundation should

         15  have already been completed and the work beginning

         16  on the structure itself.

         17                 However, we now face I believe

         18  another years' delay or more because the State

         19  recently agreed to redesign the Tower based on the

         20  NYPD security concerns. That's the subject of

         21  today's hearings.

         22                 What's incomprehensible to us, and

         23  probably all New Yorkers, is how almost four years

         24  after the attack, and it's only in the last two

         25  months that the Port Authority and Lower Manhattan
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          2  Development Corporation agreed to consider the

          3  Police Department security concerns.

          4                 Based on press accounts and my

          5  conversations with the Police Department, the Port

          6  Authority was made aware of these issues last year.

          7                 However, a letter sent by the NYPD's

          8  Deputy Commissioner for Counter-Terrorism was

          9  apparently disregarded by the Port Authority and the

         10  LMDC, and an initial meeting to discuss these

         11  concerns was cancelled.

         12                 In my view, that lack of concern for

         13  the security views of one of the world's premiere

         14  law enforcement agencies reflects the State's

         15  attitude to this City in general.

         16                 This contempt is further reflected by

         17  the lack of appearance today from anyone at this

         18  hearing.

         19                 We invited the Port Authority, Lower

         20  Manhattan Development Corporation, John Cahill, the

         21  Governor's former Chief of Staff, who is now in

         22  charge, James Kallstrom, none of them are here to

         23  testify, despite our letters and our phone calls.

         24                 James Kallstrom sent a letter, I'm

         25  going to read in part to you.
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          2                 He writes to the City Council: "As

          3  you can understand, matters pertaining to security

          4  in Lower Manhattan are highly sensitive and often

          5  involve topics that must remain confidential.

          6  Discussing these security measures in a public forum

          7  would jeopardize and be counter-productive to our

          8  ongoing effort.

          9                 Again, we are working toward a

         10  release of the redesign of the Freedom Tower later

         11  this month, and it is not possible for us to speak

         12  publicly on the status of that design until it is

         13  completed."

         14                 Well, happy birthday to everyone who

         15  was born yesterday and believes this.

         16                 This is just typical, typical of the

         17  State. You know, if they were really serious about

         18  this development, they would be here today to answer

         19  the questions of the elected officials who represent

         20  New York City.

         21                 The Governor is showing a complete

         22  contempt for the people of New York City.

         23                 The people who were attacked, the

         24  people who still have a gaping hole downtown. These

         25  people deserve answers, not press releases.
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          2                 Four years later and the Governor

          3  won't allow someone to come here and answer the

          4  people's questions. Four years later and he puts his

          5  chief of staff in charge.

          6                 What does he think was in charge for

          7  the last four years? He was. And now he puts his

          8  Chief of Staff in charge? Meet the new boss. Same as

          9  the old boss. It's outrageous.

         10                 Let me get back to the actual topic

         11  of this hearing for a moment.

         12                 The issue of the Freedom Towers has

         13  highlighted an issue that concerns both of the

         14  Chairs of these Committees, to what extent is the

         15  NYPD involved in security reviews and assessments of

         16  large scale residential and commercial buildings in

         17  New York City.

         18                 Freedom Towers, one of many projects

         19  that are high profile and may be terrorists' targets

         20  and yet whether the NYPD is involved in the design

         21  and construction of these buildings is unknown.

         22                 Today' hearing hopes to take the

         23  mystery out of these questions. We'll hear from the

         24  Department of Buildings and the Police Department

         25  about the process, the security reviews of building
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          2  developments and what role the Police Department

          3  plays.

          4                 We've invited prominent architects

          5  and developers and others in the real estate

          6  community and we'll also hear from them regarding

          7  these important issues.

          8                 Now, the Speaker is right, New York

          9  City should be in control over the development of

         10  the former World Trade Center.

         11                 We know that if this happens, the

         12  NYPD's views on securities will not go unheeded.

         13                 You know, the NYPD is here, as I

         14  mentioned. They're going to answer the questions.

         15                 We may like what they have to say, we

         16  may not, but that's how democracy works, Governor.

         17                 Let me turn it over now to my

         18  Co-Chair, Madeline Provenzano.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Good

         20  afternoon.

         21                 How do I follow Peter? I'm just going

         22  to request that nobody breathe here this afternoon.

         23  This way you won't aggravate the hot air.

         24                 I Chair the Committee on Housing and

         25  Buildings. I'm Madeline Provenzano. And Peter raised
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          2  some very important points. It kind of propped some

          3  questions into my head.

          4                 Since the collapse of the World Trade

          5  Center, many folks in building design, construction

          6  and the real estate community have been engaged in

          7  heated discussions regarding upgrading Building and

          8  Fire Protection Code, including our own local

          9  Building Code.

         10                 Building security has always been a

         11  concern in the City, and safety and security

         12  considerations are taking on new heights since 9/11.

         13  And the Committee on Housing and Buildings is

         14  particularly interested in knowing what measures are

         15  in place now to promote building safety and security

         16  on a broader basis, particularly with regard to

         17  large scale development and the rezoning efforts

         18  that are occurring throughout the City.

         19                 As new technology and innovative

         20  methods emerge, the Committee expects and hopes the

         21  comments and suggestions will continued to be

         22  offered by individuals with expertise in this area,

         23  in order to ensure the safety and promote economic

         24  viability for the City without compromises.

         25                 Many of you know that I currently
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          2  serve on the management committee and on some of the

          3  technical committees with the Department of

          4  Buildings that are involved in an effort to reform

          5  the Building Code.

          6                 As I've articulated on previous

          7  occasions, the Housing and Buildings Committee's

          8  goal is to improve building safety, whether at the

          9  design stage, construction stage or during the

         10  course of the building's occupancy.

         11                 I was really pleased when Peter asked

         12  if we -- it was really Peter's idea to have this

         13  meeting and ask, since it does concern the

         14  Department of Buildings, if we could have a joint

         15  hearing.

         16                 I was happy to cooperate. We do have

         17  a little bit of business in my Committee to do

         18  today. We have a Reso. Reso No. 978-A, which when

         19  and if we get a quorum we will vote on. It's a

         20  resolution calling upon President George W. Bush in

         21  the Federal Department of Housing and Urban Renewal,

         22  not to revise the operating subsidy formula for

         23  funding public housing that will cost New York City

         24  up to $166 million annually. And calling upon

         25  Congress to reject this change imposed by HUD. The
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          2  resolution is sponsored by Councilwoman Reyna, and

          3  I'm hopeful she'll be here at some point.

          4                 Council Member Gerson, would you like

          5  to make some comments?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Yes, Councilman

          7  Gerson is the Chair of our Select Committee on Lower

          8  Manhattan Redevelopment. See, our people show up.

          9  He's been involved in this issue from the beginning

         10  and we're honored to have him with us today.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And I'll be

         12  very brief because both of you have really laid out

         13  the issues fully and comprehensively because there's

         14  enough hot air in this room in any event.

         15                 But I do want to first of all thank

         16  you, Council Member Vallone, and you, Council Member

         17  Provenzano for your ongoing leadership, Council

         18  Member Vallone, for your insistence of putting

         19  public safety at the forefront of our agenda

         20  Citywide, including the rebuilding of Lower

         21  Manhattan. And as I said before, Council Member

         22  Provenzano, thank you for your leadership with

         23  respect to all things pertaining to the structures

         24  in which we live and work and visit. We're all

         25  better off and safer because of both of your
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          2  efforts.

          3                 Just two points. It's important to

          4  keep in mind that in the immediate aftermath of

          5  9/11, as we set about the rebuilding, one of the

          6  goals we all set forth, we being the community I

          7  represent, the City as a whole, all of the elected

          8  officials, was to rebuild in a way which would

          9  produce a paradigm of safety and security, and have

         10  the state of the art and to create the state of the

         11  art with respect to assuring that the buildings we

         12  build on that site would represent to the entire

         13  world the most advanced possible safety -- the most

         14  advanced safest structures that humankind could

         15  possibly build, and this hearing is extraordinarily

         16  important to understand and to make sure that we are

         17  achieving that goal.

         18                 The other point I just want to make,

         19  and we must not allow the lapse of time to detract

         20  from that goal, we must keep at the very top of the

         21  rebuilding agenda, we owe it to those who perish, we

         22  owe it to future generations who will visit and work

         23  in the buildings we build and we owe it to the

         24  surrounding community to assure that what we build

         25  here is every bit as safe and secure for people all
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          2  ages, all physical conditions, who will be visiting

          3  or working in those buildings.

          4                 Secondly, Mr. Chair, your points

          5  about the lack of cooperation and presence of the

          6  state are absolutely correct.

          7                 Thank you for raising them. We well

          8  understand the need for security and the need to

          9  avoid public discussion of particular security

         10  details, but there is no excuse for not being here

         11  to discuss the process to share with us the people

         12  who are involved in reaching these decisions and

         13  making those decisions, the public and certainly the

         14  community I represent, but all of us in this City

         15  have a right to understand the underlying process

         16  and the people and procedures involved in that

         17  process for reaching the security determinations.

         18                 So, we will persist in demanding that

         19  information from the State. I look forward to

         20  hearing from NYPD, FDNY and all of the witnesses

         21  participating in this hearing, and on behalf of the

         22  community I represent, and I thank you for your

         23  participation.

         24                 Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

                                                            14

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY AND HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  Council Member Gerson.

          3                 All of the men here actually have

          4  permission to go jacketless today.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Especially you,

          7  Alan.

          8                 Let me introduce some of the Council

          9  Members we have here.

         10                 Council Member Avella was just here

         11  but stepped out. Council Member Reed, Council Member

         12  Jackson, Council Member Gonzalez was here also,

         13  Council Member James, Minority Leader Council Member

         14  Oddo, and that's it for the moment.

         15                 Let's begin then with our Deputy

         16  Chief of the PD Counter-Terrorism Bureau, John

         17  Colgan; the Assistant Commissioner from the NYC

         18  Department of Buildings Robert Ivlo; and also the

         19  Chief of Staff from Department of Buildings, Steve

         20  Kramer.

         21                 Let us for the moment as we're

         22  sitting down go by the time frame we're working

         23  under right now. In July of 2004, the Governor made

         24  an announcement that the Freedom Tower would begin

         25  being built in August of 2004.
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          2                 In August of 2004, a letter was sent

          3  from the Police Department to the Governor, with the

          4  security concerns on it, confirming conversations

          5  they had had previously. And it was not until May of

          6  this year that they announced to the public that a

          7  redesign would happen. That's the time frame we're

          8  working under right now.

          9                 Deputy Chief Colgan, I thank you for

         10  coming down today to testify. You may begin when

         11  you're ready.

         12                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Good afternoon,

         13  Mr. Chairman, Madam Chair, Members of the New York

         14  City Council.

         15                 I'm Deputy Chief John Colgan. I'm

         16  currently assigned as the Executive Officer of the

         17  NYPD's Counter Terrorism Bureau. On behalf of Police

         18  Commissioner Raymond W. Kelly, I am pleased to be

         19  here today to discuss the topics of incorporating

         20  security concerns and the design and construction of

         21  large scale development projects, as well as

         22  security concerns surrounding the Freedom Tower.

         23                 Since the beginning of Mayor

         24  Bloomberg's Administration, Commissioner Kelly has

         25  adjusted the mission of the Police Department to

                                                            16

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY AND HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  include both counter terrorism and infrastructure

          3  protection.

          4                 The NYPD proactively seeks,

          5  therefore, to identify elements of critical

          6  infrastructure, and potential terrorist targets, and

          7  engages routinely in consultations with building

          8  owners and property managers as appropriate for the

          9  purpose of enhancing physical security to harden

         10  these locations against potential terrorist attack.

         11                 Our efforts to enhance the physical

         12  security of these locations are based on a

         13  partnership with building owners and managers and

         14  have worked extremely well.

         15                 The Department entity primarily

         16  involved in these consultations is the Counter

         17  Terrorism Division's Threat Reduction and

         18  Infrastructure Protection Section.

         19                 This section was created in the

         20  Spring of 2002 to build within the New York City

         21  Police Department a high level of expertise in

         22  infrastructure protection and physical security.

         23                 To that end, experienced NYPD

         24  detective investigators were selected to staff a

         25  section and receive the highest quality training
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          2  through, among others, the National Laboratory

          3  System, through in-residence training at the Federal

          4  Law Enforcement Training Center in Glynco, Georgia,

          5  and most recently, the Department has developed

          6  fairly robust relationships with the Departments of

          7  Homeland Security and Energy, and is sending its

          8  infrastructure protection investigators through

          9  training provided by these entities.

         10                 Infrastructure protection

         11  investigators and the Counter Terrorism Division are

         12  currently focused on five distinct key mission

         13  areas.

         14                 Key critical facilities,

         15  Transportation and Maritime Uses, Public Utility

         16  Venues, the Chem-Bio-Rad Sector, and High

         17  Explosives.

         18                 With respect to the NYPD's

         19  involvement in the security of sensitive buildings

         20  within New York City, the Counter Terrorism Bureau

         21  regularly works with scores of public and private

         22  entities around the City to enhance physical

         23  security as one means of protecting against

         24  terrorist attacks.

         25                 These relationships developed
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          2  generally in one of two ways: We, ourselves, may

          3  reach out to locations that we are particularly

          4  concerned about, given a potential for mass

          5  casualties in a particular venue, or our interest

          6  may be a function of the location or the facilities

          7  symbolic or iconic value, or a function of the

          8  economic impact accruing to a successful terrorist

          9  attack against the site, or its position as an

         10  element of critical infrastructure.

         11                 Alternately, building owners and

         12  managers themselves may reach out to the NYPD for

         13  the purpose of attaining our assistance in security

         14  these facilities.

         15                 As a general matter, we suggest that

         16  the Police Department should be apprised of any new

         17  significant construction projects being undertaken

         18  in New York City.

         19                 This will afford us the opportunity

         20  to evaluate the risk to the project, and make

         21  professional recommendations on physical security

         22  during the design stage.

         23                 The most appropriate method for

         24  achieving this goal, we believe, is through close

         25  liaison with the New York City Department of
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          2  Buildings.

          3                 We would also note that Police

          4  Department involvement should and will be relatively

          5  infrequent, and be contingent upon a substantial

          6  threat to a specific project with clearly

          7  exploitable vulnerability.

          8                 The Police Department is loathe to

          9  create an environment where it is either difficult

         10  or prohibitively costly to build in New York. That

         11  said, we want only to ensure that key buildings are

         12  built prudently and operated securely in light of

         13  the evolving dynamic terrorist threat.

         14                 With respect to the development of

         15  the Freedom Tower, the Police Department was made

         16  privy to the area's master plan in late 2003, and

         17  subsequently made inquiries into plan specifics.

         18                 When further information was provided

         19  to the Department in mid-2004, we subsequently

         20  articulated security concerns relative to this plan.

         21                 Ultimately, however, consensus was

         22  reached on our suggestions and recommendations to

         23  enhance physical security at the site, and we are

         24  currently actively engaged with the Governor's

         25  staff, the Lower Manhattan Development Corporation,
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          2  Silverstein Properties, Incorporated, the design

          3  team in finalizing the Freedom Tower design project.

          4                 In closing, we'd like to express our

          5  appreciation to the Council for this opportunity to

          6  discuss security concerns associated with large

          7  scale development projects within New York City.

          8                 The Department has readily undertaken

          9  a key role in meeting with other government

         10  agencies, building owners and managers, and property

         11  developers to assess vulnerabilities and suggest

         12  improvements to major projects.

         13                 And we welcome the Council's interest

         14  in this critical issue.

         15                 I'll be pleased to answer your

         16  questions at this time.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: The Department

         18  of Buildings is just here to answer questions, they

         19  don't have a statement, correct? Okay.

         20                 Okay, before we get into general

         21  oversight, you did answer many questions when it

         22  comes to that. We're a little vague when it comes to

         23  Freedom Tower. Let's start there.

         24                 You said that you were made privy to

         25  the master plan in late 2003.
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          2                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Yes, sir.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So it took two

          4  years from the attack for someone involved in this

          5  plan to reach out to the New York City Police

          6  Department? And who reached out to you, and how were

          7  you made privy?

          8                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: We were reached

          9  out to by Mr. Silverstein, we were reached out to by

         10  officials of the Lower Manhattan Development

         11  Corporation. The LMDC reached out to us in November

         12  of 2003. We had meetings with the Economic

         13  Development Corporation's representatives. We had

         14  meetings with LMDC officials, where we discussed

         15  conceptually the area master plan.

         16                 Those early meetings, November 2003,

         17  December 2003, into early 2004, suggested the need

         18  for further specific articulation of area plan

         19  requirements.

         20                 When we got those, we responded to

         21  them thoroughly and directly.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: When did you

         23  first have concerns, security concerns, regarding

         24  the plan for this site, and when did you first voice

         25  them to the authorities involved?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: I don't have an

          3  exact date.

          4                 We expressed our concerns from the

          5  first moment that we had meetings with the Lower

          6  Manhattan Development Corporation and Port Authority

          7  officials, given the iconic nature of the site,

          8  given the criticality of the location, given the

          9  importance of the construction project, that would

         10  unfold at the site.

         11                 We made our general concerns very

         12  clear early on once we were involved in the project.

         13  Mr. Silverstein had sent to the Police Department

         14  his consultants, threatened risk assessment. We

         15  looked at that. There were a series of further

         16  meetings that asked for plan specifics so that we

         17  could provide substantive comment.

         18                 When we were provided with those

         19  substantive plans, we articulated the level of

         20  concern that produced a current condition where

         21  there is a new design in process for the project.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Deputy

         23  Commissioner for Counter Terrorism Michael Sheehan

         24  (phonetic) sent a letter in August of 2004, and I

         25  know he really wanted to be here today, he asked us
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          2  to make that accommodation and unfortunately it was

          3  impossible, so he is not ducking this hearing by any

          4  stretch, he did want to be here.

          5                 He sent a letter in August. Obviously

          6  that was not the first time those concerns were

          7  communicated to the authorities involved, correct?

          8                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: That is correct.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: In July, one

         10  month prior to that letter, Governor Pataki made an

         11  announcement that he expected the foundation to be

         12  laid one month later, which would be August. So, he

         13  made that announcement knowing that you had concerns

         14  about the design structure; is that correct?

         15                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: I won't comment

         16  on what the Governor knew or didn't know. I will

         17  tell you that the Commissioner, Deputy Commissioner

         18  Sheehan's letters were directed to the Port

         19  Authority, and we had made the Port Authority clear

         20  of our concerns.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And you made the

         22  Port Authority clear well before the letter you sent

         23  in August, or Counter Terrorism Chief Sheehan sent

         24  in August?

         25                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: There were
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          2  earlier meetings where we had indicated that we

          3  needed specific plan information in order for us to

          4  make substantive comment on the conceptual plan, the

          5  area master plan. So, I would say that is correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And after the

          7  letter in August, the initial meeting was cancelled;

          8  can you go into the circumstances regarding that?

          9                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: I know that the

         10  meeting was cancelled. I don't know why it was

         11  cancelled. It wasn't cancelled by the NYPD.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: To what extent

         13  are you involved now in the redesign?

         14                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Critically

         15  involved. Just as recently as 10:00 this morning I

         16  was at the most recent meeting with LMDC with the

         17  Governor's former Chief of Staff, with Mr.

         18  Silverstein, with New York State DOT, with Battery

         19  Park City Authority and other affected stakeholders

         20  on the Freedom Tower design.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Are you

         22  satisfied with the involvement that you now have at

         23  this point?

         24                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Yes. Quite

         25  frankly, under Mayor Bloomberg's and Commissioner
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          2  Kelly's leadership, I think that we have positioned

          3  ourselves exactly where we need to be to ensure that

          4  the Freedom Tower Project is the beautiful, elegant,

          5  secure, safe, robustly-designed project that we all

          6  want it to be, and I believe we will get there.

          7                 Ultimately, through the course of our

          8  discussions with Port Authority, LMDC and other

          9  officials, we came to be placed exactly where we

         10  need to be. Deputy Inspector Michael O'Neal, who is

         11  sitting to my right, who is the Commanding Officer

         12  of the Counter Terrorism Division and oversees the

         13  Threat Reduction Infrastructure Protection section,

         14  will, along with me and Commissioner Sheehan, and

         15  Administration of the NYPD, be integrally involved

         16  in that project to its successful completion.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We're happy to

         18  hear that. But we are concerned about the amount of

         19  time this has taken, and there is nobody more

         20  concerned with the safety of New York City than the

         21  people on this Committee and the people sitting

         22  here, but we won't let safety be an excuse to cover

         23  up for incompetence on the State level.

         24                 So, do you have any reason, do you

         25  know why it took over two years for the State to
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          2  contact you regarding the plan?

          3                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: I don't. Nor

          4  would I think any further comment on my part

          5  relative to that would be appropriate. That's

          6  directed to those officials.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You're

          8  absolutely right about that. Those officials who

          9  refused to come here today to answer the questions

         10  that you're answering. You're here to answer the

         11  tough questions, they're not. They're used to

         12  government in Albany where you can govern by press

         13  release, and govern by press conference where you

         14  show up and you don't answer questions. That doesn't

         15  play here in New York City.

         16                 But you're absolutely right, they

         17  should be answering that question, not you.

         18                 To the extent that you can comment on

         19  this, what were your concerns regarding the original

         20  plans?

         21                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Well, we had

         22  concerns relative to the setback from Route 9A,

         23  which is a major State highway, a major truck route,

         24  multi-lane. We had concerns relative to the stand

         25  off of the structure itself, the building curtain
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          2  wall from the curb at 9A. We had concerns about

          3  accessibility by vehicular and pedestrian traffic

          4  through Washington Street, Fulton, Vesey, as well.

          5  We had concerns about the Liberty Street truck

          6  access and truck screening management plan, and we

          7  articulated those. We had concerns about the level

          8  of fenestration with respect to the percentage of

          9  the structural base.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Level of what?

         11                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Windows.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.

         13                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: From the French

         14  benefa, windows. Term of art.

         15                 We had concerns about the protective

         16  glazing. We had concerns about the degree to which

         17  the threat against which the building was being

         18  designed to be protected was the actual threat.

         19                 Those threats were deemed by us to

         20  have been marginalized in the original approach.

         21                 We voiced our opinions, we voiced our

         22  concerns, we looked at pass the tax around the

         23  globe. We have a three-part approach to assessment.

         24  Case studies, look at what's happening in the world

         25  around us, the world in which we operate, post 9/11
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          2  tactical environment, lessons learned, and in best

          3  practices, and we made recommendations to ensure

          4  that best practices would be put into place in the

          5  design standard for the building.

          6                 Those included Department of State

          7  security standards for Class A high-rise

          8  construction, those included general services

          9  administration, interagency security committee

         10  recommendations, and the Federal Emergency

         11  Management Administration's field reference design

         12  guidelines for a Class A building.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And your

         14  concerns were marginalized; what do you mean by

         15  that?

         16                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: In other words,

         17  the threatened risk assessment that was originally

         18  done by the individuals who were tasked with doing

         19  it for Silverstein Properties, presumably for

         20  Silverstein and the Court, underestimated what we

         21  believe to be the threat in New York City against

         22  such an iconic structure, such an important

         23  location.

         24                 We articulated that, explained the

         25  reasons for which we had come to that conclusion,
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          2  and ultimately those judgments were accepted by the

          3  design team and are being incorporated by the

          4  security experts into the design plan.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Some of your

          6  concerns are obviously fairly technical, or maybe

          7  they just sound that way because they're in French,

          8  but some are actually fairly technical. But others

          9  are pretty basic. The distance from the street of

         10  the building, that's a pretty basic concern. You

         11  were given the plans in late 2003, and when was the

         12  first time you voiced that concern, someone from the

         13  Police Department voiced that concern?

         14                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: The late 2003

         15  plans were actually area master plans. They weren't

         16  specific enough so that we would be able to

         17  articulate most of the concerns that I just

         18  reiterated to you.

         19                 I would say in the first to second

         20  quarter of 2004, where we were apprised of that

         21  level of information necessary to make a legitimate

         22  technical assessment with an expectation that it

         23  would be acted upon.

         24                 So, we have enough information--

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: In 2004 about
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          2  what point?

          3                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Late first

          4  quarter, early second quarter.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Sorry, I asked

          6  you a question then I turned to somebody.

          7                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: The late first

          8  quarter, early second quarter of calendar year '04.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That's when you

         10  received enough information?

         11                 And when did you then voice your

         12  concerns?

         13                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Mid-2004, after

         14  doing a technical assessment. And we're looking at

         15  several elements in doing that technical assessment.

         16                 We're looking at the criticality of

         17  the site. We're looking at its accessibility to

         18  pedestrian and vehicular traffic. We're looking at

         19  its recoverability. Facilities recoverability from

         20  an attack.

         21                 If a place is attacked, it later has

         22  to be destroyed. It's been successfully destroyed

         23  whether we do it or someone else does it.

         24                 So, we looked at criticality, we

         25  looked at accessibility, we looked at
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          2  recuperability, we looked at vulnerability, we

          3  looked at the effect, the impacts both to life

          4  safety, to economic impacts, the global impact of a

          5  successful attack on that site, and then, of course,

          6  the recognized ability, the iconic nature of that

          7  site forever defined as a New York City site, when

          8  we made our determination that it was a very special

          9  requirements building and we articulated that to the

         10  parties concerned.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I just want to

         12  make something clear. You said late 2004. I think it

         13  was probably earlier than that because the letter

         14  from Deputy Commissioner Sheehan was August of 2004.

         15  So, when did you first articulate to the Authority

         16   --

         17                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: I said the first

         18  quarter, end of the first quarter, March, or the

         19  beginning of the second quarter, April of '04.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I misheard you

         21  then.

         22                 Okay, I have many more questions but

         23  I want to get to some of my colleagues, and my

         24  Co-Chair Madeline Provenzano.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.
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          2                 So, that's '04, that's a little over

          3  a year ago?

          4                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Yes, Ma'am.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay.

          6                 Was this not the building there was a

          7  context, for lack of a better word, that went out to

          8  the whole City and someone won and this was the

          9  building that somebody designed? Is this the

         10  building that we're talking about? The building that

         11  won the contest that was -- who ran the contest,

         12  Alan, you know?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: The LMDC, the

         14  Local Manhattan Development Corporation.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay. And

         16  there were a gazillion designs and they whittled it

         17  down to a few and one was the design. And I am

         18  thinking, okay, it's his district, he knows, that

         19  this is the building that won the design.

         20                 So, I guess the question I have then

         21  is, when they were reviewing designs and making

         22  decisions, did the Police Department have any input

         23  into that? Because I think it was like around the

         24  same time, so like what happens now to this great

         25  design, considering the thoughts that you have put
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          2  forth on the safety issues of this building?

          3                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: My sense, and my

          4  understanding of the process by which the design was

          5  created is limited to my reading of David Dunlapp's

          6  articles in the New York Times. So, I'll provide no

          7  further information on that, I'm not competent to.

          8                 Having said that, to answer your

          9  question of what happens to the design, I think what

         10  should happen to the design is what's happening to

         11  the design. It's being modified to meet what we have

         12  articulated to be the real threat in New York City,

         13  and I can tell you, Madam Chair, that based on the

         14  goings on of the last several months, I am most

         15  heartened at the developments.

         16                 As I said to Chairman Vallone a few

         17  moments ago, we are where we need to be in this

         18  design program. The consultants that the people

         19  responsible for hiring the contractors to execute

         20  the design are keenly aware of our issues. They

         21  understand, I think, at the very high level the

         22  standards that we want to see incorporated, and we

         23  have unanimous consensus on the fact that they will

         24  be incorporated into what we would expect to be

         25  shortly unveiled as the new design.
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          2                 So, while it's my sense that a design

          3  competition produces a conceptual design, I was

          4  responsible for the New York City Police

          5  Department's real estate portfolio for about seven

          6  years, and I never saw design executed for any

          7  facility that looked exactly like, and sometimes the

          8  end product didn't look remotely like the original

          9  design. But they were designs that were executed

         10  after all of our needs were taken into

         11  consideration, be they FAR, be they accessibility of

         12  parking, be they ADA compliant, so on a much grander

         13  scale it comes as no surprise to me that the Freedom

         14  Tower Design, which is originally unveiled as this

         15  grand concept, would undergo modification to

         16  accommodate a security need.  Well, we are not

         17  interested in militarizing the City of New York. And

         18  we are not interested in turning beautiful sleek

         19  structures into fortresses. We're not interested in

         20  that.

         21                 Having said that, we are interested

         22  in input that gives us, as the Council has argued

         23  today, a safe building for all the people who use it

         24  on a regular basis, for those who visit it, for

         25  those who would enjoy its amenities and those who
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          2  drive by it or under it every day.

          3                 And happily we feel we are there now.

          4  We are where we need it to be with respect to the

          5  design.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I certainly

          7  would not, you know, I totally understand your

          8  position and would never want to, you know, have any

          9  question about safety and security, we all

         10  appreciate, you know, what the NYPD is doing.

         11                 I guess my concern was when they put

         12  out this competition, maybe those kinds of things

         13  should have been incorporated at that point into,

         14  you know, these are the specs, these are what we

         15  expect to be in the design.

         16                 But I certainly appreciate, you know,

         17  all of the concerns that you raise.

         18                 Now, in March of '04, that was when

         19  you put out a document that said for these reasons

         20  this has to happen. So, you had been investigating

         21  it before that, prior to March '04.

         22                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: I'm sorry, Madam

         23  Chair. I'm not sure I know which document you're

         24  talking about.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay. The
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          2  letter that was put out in August of '04 that

          3  indicated that the building was close to West Street

          4  and would have to move back. How long before that

          5  were you investigating before you decided this was

          6  what had to happen?

          7                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Well, as the

          8  Chairman indicated before.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: And I'm sorry

         10  if I stepped out.

         11                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: No problem at

         12  all. As Chairman Vallone indicated before, stand

         13  off, and if you speak to anyone, if you speak to an

         14  architectural student in his or her first class in a

         15  design school, they will tell you that these are the

         16  building security, given those things happening

         17  around the globe today, vehicle-borne Inprovastic

         18  (phonetic) Explosive Devices being a major threat in

         19  large urban areas across the globe, the stand-off is

         20  your first issue, linear distance to the building

         21  wall, and the easiest one to address.

         22                 Now, having said that it's the

         23  easiest one to address, it might be very difficult

         24  to increase stand-off that's originally presented,

         25  but one would expect that one would say, here's the
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          2  stand-off, we realize that it's not as great as some

          3  would like, but it's physically impossible, given

          4  the building footprint, given the surrounding area

          5  to move it. In places where that isn't the case, we

          6  would expect that stand-off would be maximized in

          7  view of the more likely threats in this City, in our

          8  view, vehicle-borne IEDs.

          9                 Having said that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Can you just

         11  explain the acronyms for the record.

         12                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Vehicle-borne

         13  Inprovastic (phonetic) Explosive Devices.

         14                 So, in terms of our earliest comments

         15  on the site, I would ask that you remember that we

         16  were talking to general area master plans. We

         17  weren't talking about --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: And that was

         19  when? That was how far back?

         20                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: That was early

         21  '04.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay. So,

         23  that's about the time when you first said, hey, we

         24  better take a look at this because it may not fit

         25  into --
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          2                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Yes, there were

          3  a number of discussions in meetings, telephone

          4  conversations, about basic things. Height,

          5  placement, accessibility to roadways, vehicular and

          6  management plan, the need to review the threat and

          7  risk assessment study done by Silverstein

          8  Properties, which was provided and we looked at it

          9  and we said okay. We believe the risks are greater

         10  than the people writing this threat and risk

         11  assessment might think they are, and we articulated

         12  that.

         13                 But to the degree that our judgments

         14  are going to be impactive, we were going to need

         15  further information on the site. And when that was

         16  provided in mid-'04, we did a rigorous threat and

         17  vulnerability assessment of the area plan focusing

         18  on the Freedom Tower.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Are you aware of

         21  who the State was consulting with, if not you? Prior

         22  to when you were first contacted, regarding security

         23  concerns>.

         24                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: I'm aware of a

         25  number of security consultants they have.

                                                            39

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY AND HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 I've had dealings with those security

          3  consultants in the past and I, quite frankly,

          4  believe they're probably of the highest caliber that

          5  you would have work on the project in the City.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And your

          7  concerns that you had regarding this, as far as I am

          8  aware, there is no legal requirement that the State

          9  abide by those concerns?

         10                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: It's my

         11  understanding that that's the case.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And that's

         13  because they're exempt from our Building Codes and

         14  from our authority in any way?

         15                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: That's my

         16  limited legal understanding of our relationship with

         17  the Port Authority of New York and New Jersey.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Let me turn to

         19  the Chair of our Lower Manhattan Redevelopment

         20  Committee.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Good

         22  afternoon, Deputy Chief.

         23                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Good afternoon,

         24  Council Member Gerson.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And let me
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          2  just state for the record and to my colleagues that

          3  I've been privileged to have been able to have

          4  interacted and to continue to interact with the

          5  Deputy Chief on many -- on a range of community

          6  issues, and from my interaction, I know that we are

          7  in the best possible hands with this Deputy Chief.

          8                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Thank you. The

          9  privilege is mutual.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: One area of

         11  inquiry, I just want to sort out, it's kind of the

         12  jurisdictional mish-mosh, if you will, generally,

         13  and where NYPD fits in, as you know, we have many

         14  agencies and entities involved in jurisdictional or

         15  quasi-jurisdictional capacity, and I guess our main

         16  concern is to make sure that NYPD is where it should

         17  be.

         18                 Now, you have said on more than one

         19  occasion that you are satisfied that your Department

         20  is now in the right place. I just would like to kind

         21  of flush out a little bit what is the right place.

         22  And in particular, is it your understanding that

         23  from this time forward NYPD has an absolute veto, if

         24  you will, over any plan?

         25                 In other words, if you decide it
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          2  doesn't pass muster, it ain't going to happen; is

          3  that the case?

          4                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: I wouldn't use

          5  the term "veto," and I wouldn't use terms like

          6  approval agency. We are not a regulatory agency. We

          7  are, in our view, in my view certainly, the premiere

          8  law enforcement entity in the country.

          9                 Having said that --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I concur.

         11                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: We want a full

         12  and equal voice at the table where we discuss the

         13  impact of a hugely important project that will

         14  impact the safety of every citizen living in,

         15  working in, or visiting New York City on a daily

         16  basis.

         17                 That said, I believe that's where we

         18  are. We spoke to Mr. Kallstrom this morning a

         19  meeting chaired by Ms. Cahill down at LMDC, we are

         20  fully involved in the scope of work that Mr.

         21  Kallstrom has put together right now in the

         22  preliminary stage to acquire the services of outside

         23  security experts. Because we know a lot but we don't

         24  know everything. And it is not our place as the New

         25  York City Police Department to say yay or nay.

                                                            42

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY AND HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 It's our place to, within the limits

          3  of our professional capacity, say we don't think so,

          4  or we believe, based on our assessment of the

          5  available intelligence at hand, that your assessment

          6  of the risk is not accurate, or that you have

          7  understated the threat.

          8                 So, to the extent, to the extent that

          9  we do that, and to the extent that we make it clear

         10  that these standards are, in our view, sinequinon,

         11  for those who are going to design a safe and robust

         12  building, and be sympathetic to the security threats

         13  and the vulnerabilities at the location, we believe

         14  that this consortium of stakeholders will accept

         15  them as gospel.

         16                 There's a difference between that and

         17  our believing that we are veto power or that we're a

         18  regulatory agency.

         19                 I think when the Police Commissioner

         20  delivered his report, in April of this year, to the

         21  stakeholders, it was made abundantly clear that

         22  these were concerns that we would continue to

         23  articulate, that these were concerns which had to be

         24  addressed, and we believe that they are being

         25  addressed.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Now, you used

          3  the term, and I appreciate that, "full and equal

          4  voice." Equal to or with whom? What are the

          5  entities?

          6                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Equal to the

          7  other stakeholders sitting at the table, whether

          8  they are the Port, whether they are New York State

          9  DOT, whether they are the designers.

         10                 The design is not sacrosanct. The

         11  design, the design is a medium within which our

         12  security requirements will be met. And quite frankly

         13  we believe that those security consultants who have

         14  been involved in a project to date, highly skilled,

         15  highly-trained folks, both architectural engineering

         16  and blast physicist types, will execute the

         17  incorporation of those security requirements into

         18  whatever design is eventually adopted.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: In your mind,

         20  as one of the agencies with a full and equal voice

         21  participating in this mammoth project, who, in your

         22  mind, is in charge?

         23                 In other words, you just said you're

         24  going to deliver your threat assessment, your

         25  assessment of the sufficiency of the structure, and
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          2  other facets of the plan vis-a-vis threat

          3  assessments, you are going to deliver that. In your

          4  mind then, if your Department doesn't have the final

          5  word to say yay or nay, who does?

          6                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Well, I don't

          7  know that that's an appropriate question for me to

          8  answer but I'll say this to that --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: But if you're

         10  performing -- I would hope that an agency of the

         11  level of NYPD, which is high level, in effect of

         12  what you describe the highest in advisory, has

         13  performed the highest advisory capacities as

         14  possible, I would hope you would know ultimately who

         15  you're advising.

         16                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Well, I'll say

         17  this, advising all those parties that are

         18  responsible for the construction and the safe

         19  conduct of the site, and I'll go back to my earlier

         20  remarks.

         21                 I believe we're already there. I

         22  think several weeks ago we reached consensus across

         23  the board with the stakeholders, both in the State,

         24  in the Port Authority, and in the City on the

         25  adoption of those security standards that we
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          2  articulate.

          3                 So I believe, quite frankly, we're

          4  already there.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, good,

          6  that's reassuring and we're glad --

          7                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: The test will

          8  now be in the execution of a design that those

          9  standards are met, and I think what is being

         10  proposed and the Department concurs with the finding

         11  that this is the way to go, that a professional

         12  security consortium contracted by the folks building

         13  the Freedom Tower, would manage the incorporation of

         14  those standards into the actual construction, and we

         15  will be, from now until the end of that project,

         16  involved regularly to make sure that that in fact is

         17  done.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Let me

         19  rephrase it, and then we have to pause for a vote of

         20  the Housing Committee, then I'll wrap up shortly

         21  after that.

         22                 But if in this process tomorrow you

         23  noted something that set off the alarm bells, there

         24  was no needing, you know, schedule to take place,

         25  and something came up that you had to assure was
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          2  dealt with and recognized, would you go -- who, in

          3  your mind, do you go to? Is it LMDC? Is it the Port

          4  Authority? Is it directly to the Governor?

          5                 I mean, I'm trying to understand,

          6  it's important for the public to understand the

          7  structure.

          8                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Yes, if I may?

          9  Yes, the answer to that is a simple one.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Could I

         11  interrupt a minute? Could you like, kind of dwell on

         12  his question for a minute?

         13                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Sure.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: While we just

         15  take this vote, because some folks have to be some

         16  place else.

         17                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Absolutely.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: And we do

         19  have a quorum at the moment.

         20                 Committee on Housing and Buildings

         21  will be voting on proposed Reso No. 978-A. Just to

         22  remind you, it's a resolution calling upon President

         23  George W. Bush and the federal Department of Housing

         24  and Urban Development, HUD, not to revise the

         25  operating subsidy formula for funding public housing
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          2  that will cost New York City up to $166 million

          3  annually, and calling upon Congress to reject this

          4  change if imposed by HUD.

          5                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

          6  Provenzano, how do you vote?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Yes.

          8                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

          9  Rivera.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: I vote yes.

         11                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         12  Avella.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Yes.

         14                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         15  Jackson.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes.

         17                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         18  James.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Aye.

         20                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         21  Oddo.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Aye.

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: By a vote of

         24  six in the affirmative, no negatives, no

         25  abstentions, this resolution has been adopted.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          4                 Sorry. Do you remember the question?

          5                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: I certainly do,

          6  particularly because I think it's answer is so

          7  obvious.

          8                 Council Member, quite frankly, I

          9  would go, and whether you're addressing the question

         10  to John Colgan as a member of the NYPD or to the

         11  NYPD. I would go to my boss and ultimately --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Who would your

         13  boss go to? Who would the Department go to? We know

         14  you would go to the Commissioner.

         15                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: If you would

         16  only give me the benefit of the opportunity to

         17  reply, I will.

         18                 The NYPD would do what history has

         19  already demonstrated it would. There is no way,

         20  there is no way that the NYPD leadership, and the

         21  Administration of the City of New York would not

         22  have its voice heard by every entity, every

         23  stakeholder outside of the City and the PD in this

         24  consortium of stakeholders.

         25                 And, if I may, I said before, we
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          2  looked at the development of an assessment process

          3  on three lines, if you will.

          4                 Case study. We've already provided,

          5  quite frankly, for all the stakeholders, a case

          6  study of events, incidents around the world. With

          7  respect to lessons learned, I will suggest to you,

          8  Mr. Gerson, that every member of that group of

          9  stakeholders outside of the City of New York has

         10  learned the lesson, okay? So we have a case study,

         11  we have lessons learned. I cannot imagine that the

         12  best practices for anyone involved in the redesign

         13  and the construction of this Freedom Tower will not

         14  provide us with what I believe we already actively

         15  have, full and equal voice.

         16                 And I will tell you this, sir. The

         17  NYPD has been asked for input on those security

         18  advices to who may request for expression of

         19  interest, RFQ would go out to ensure that our

         20  security standards are met in the execution of the

         21  designs.

         22                 So, I can tell you beyond per

         23  adventure of doubt, with my highest personal level

         24  of confidence, that those recommendations that we

         25  have been told, and I believe it to be the case, are

                                                            50

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY AND HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  fully accepted, that we will see them executed in

          3  the design of the Tower, and that the Tower will be

          4  upon its, you know, construction, the safest,

          5  largest building in the City.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Isn't it the

          7  case, Deputy Chief, in the course of the

          8  deliberations this Consortium has had, there have

          9  been disagreements that needed to be worked out as

         10  to the issue in which you're testifying as to

         11  specifically what is necessary to adequately

         12  safeguard the building, whether there are

         13  disagreements between NYPD and the Port Authority

         14  Police Department, or disagreements between the

         15  design team and NYPD, or disagreements between other

         16  entities not involved in the NYPD?

         17                 I would expect in this unchartered

         18  world of ours that inevitably such disagreements out

         19  of good faith must come up, and I would be concerned

         20  if they did not come up. And what I'm trying to get

         21  at is an understanding of the structure and

         22  ultimately the authority as to how those

         23  disagreements are worked out and who has the final

         24  word.

         25                 And I understand if you're not able
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          2  to provide that to us, then, you know, we'll have to

          3  turn elsewhere.

          4                 But what I'm hearing, Mr. Chair, and

          5  this is a concern, and if you have any other further

          6  comments, we'll listen, otherwise we'll move on to

          7  just one other area, but what I'm hearing is that

          8  the NYPD has a full and equal voice now which is

          9  reassuring, but we still don't have a clear

         10  understanding, we, the public, as to the

         11  jurisdiction of who decides among those equal voices

         12  which viewpoint went out, if you will, or will be

         13  the final word. And I think we, the public of this

         14  late date, have a right and have the need to

         15  understand what the jurisdictional hierarchy or

         16  process is, and I would submit, Mr. Chair, that one

         17  of the reasons for the delays and the back and forth

         18  which you eloquently cited in your opening remarks

         19  is that this has not been to this late date fully

         20  worked out. We have PA, we have LMDC, we have

         21  different levels.

         22                 And I would finally and further

         23  submit that when it comes to security, it is

         24  absolutely critical that if we have the Deputy Chief

         25  testifying that NYPD does not have a veto power but
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          2  has an equal voice, we need to know who makes the --

          3  who sorts out the different equal voices, and we

          4  still have not heard that, and I think we need to

          5  hear that as we proceed.

          6                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: I have three

          7  observations in answer to that question.

          8                 One, I would characterize earlier

          9  disagreements about the design standard for the

         10  Tower to be akin to disagreements that the 51

         11  members of the Council would have.

         12                 I have been present where there are

         13  conferences between parties, between Councilmanic

         14  districts, that's a function of a normal human

         15  process, very dynamic by which people of goodwill

         16  with different views make their points known. One.

         17  So, I'm not troubled by the disagreement.

         18                 Two, in terms of the parties, you

         19  mentioned among others the Port Authority Police

         20  Department. We never had any disagreement with the

         21  Port Authority Police Department on any element

         22  related to the Freedom Tower. We have not had

         23  discussions with them as an entity. Whether they've

         24  been present at meetings is another issue, but you

         25  particularly mentioned another police agency, that's
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          2  not the case.

          3                 Thirdly, I think, and of course, I

          4  can't talk to the process by which you're coming to

          5  this conclusion, but it's my sense that you're

          6  troubled more by the language and more by the

          7  semantics.

          8                 I will not use the word veto. I will

          9  say this. I will say we are all ready where you

         10  think, as I understand what you're saying we ought

         11  to be. I will tell you this, sir. Based on what I've

         12  seen and heard in the last several months, based on

         13  what I heard as recently as 10:00 to 10:40 this

         14  morning, I would eat the shoes I'm wearing if we did

         15  not see in the final design and the executed design

         16  and later construction of that Tower a deviation, a

         17  reduction, a retreat from the very robust standards

         18  that we have articulated and that we have unanimous

         19  consensus on.

         20                 So, it's my sense that there isn't

         21  anyone involved in this project in their right mind

         22  who would publicly or privately articulate a desire

         23  to reduce that standard. To the extent that we've

         24  been asked to actively participate in the scope and

         25  statement of work for the security advisors who will
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          2  manage the process by which these recommendations

          3  are worked into the construction, that we will have

          4  active participation in on, I'm told a weekly basis,

          5  I would say to you that for me, individually,

          6  personally, it's inconceivable that those standards

          7  will not be met and/or exceeded in every step of the

          8  way.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, Deputy

         10  Chief, to wrap this part up, I am hardened by most

         11  of your testimony and I respect your observations.

         12                 I would just, and I need to comment

         13  on the first point you made in your recent response,

         14  and that is, when we have our disagreements the

         15  public knows how we're going to resolve them. We're

         16  going to take a vote and the majority will win, and

         17  if the Mayor vetoes it, he will veto it and then

         18  there's another process for overturning. And I

         19  submit to you, that's a clear process of resolution

         20  and jurisdiction which is known to the public. And,

         21  again, unless you're telling me that everyone in the

         22  end of the day has to agree and that has not been

         23  your testimony, and we still don't know what the

         24  clear process is for making the final determination

         25  with respect to the Freedom Tower, including with
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          2  respect to the structure security issues of the

          3  Freedom Tower, I think the public has a right to

          4  know that, and I hope as we go forward, we will.

          5                 Let me ask you one other question. In

          6  addition to being involved with the structural

          7  safety of the building, has your Department or the

          8  Department of Buildings or both of you been involved

          9  with, if you will, internal safety from the

         10  standpoint of assuring adequate precautions for

         11  rescue, for evacuation, for, if necessary, rooftop

         12  rescue for adequate communication so we don't see a

         13  repeat of this situation where you have rescue

         14  workers within the buildings not able to communicate

         15  out?

         16                 Have you thus far played a role on

         17  those issues beyond structural safety related to

         18  internal occupancy safety and rescue? Or do you

         19  expect to play a role? And if not, what agencies

         20  will?

         21                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Well, we do

         22  expect to play a role, and we have to date,

         23  obviously because we have not seen the final design,

         24  so to the degree that we have a final design, and a

         25  process for implementing and executing that design
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          2  through construction documents, we expect that we,

          3  along with other City agencies, including the FD,

          4  the FD's First Deputy Commissioner was at today's

          5  meeting. They are experts on building safety and

          6  building evacuation plans, those elements of the

          7  City Administration that need to be involved in a

          8  process of having prudent and well managed building

          9  operations, I would imagine will be involved.

         10                 I know that the PD and the FD will be

         11  involved.

         12                 Having said that, until you have a

         13  final design, you can't have a concept of operations

         14  in detail for building safety and plant management

         15  operations.

         16                 And they would include, in addition

         17  to those elements you talked about, heating

         18  ventilation and air conditioning vulnerability are

         19  levels of protection. They would talk to elevator

         20  cores, they would talk to density of glass, they

         21  would talk to milar film (phonetic) on, you know,

         22  those structural days that were covered with glass,

         23  there are many, many issues beyond items, you know,

         24  addressing structural collapse, you know, puncture,

         25  sheer, elements like that.
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          2                 And don't forget, this is one element

          3  of a multi-element 16-acre site. So, the Police

          4  Department and those public safety agencies that you

          5  would normally expect to be involved in such a huge

          6  project, DOT, there are huge issues that will be

          7  addressed as that final design rolls out.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So we still

          9  have a little bit of a ways to go.

         10                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Oh, absolutely.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And I'm going

         12  to conclude where I began, at the end of the day

         13  sitting here, are you confident that we will produce

         14  a building and a site which is a model of safety and

         15  security to the world?

         16                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: As I said

         17  before, sir, I believe that when executed this

         18  facility will demonstrate by its presence in New

         19  York City a new best practice lesson plan, if you

         20  will, for others in large urban areas who are

         21  looking to develop grand scale class A real estate

         22  projects, and I think that ultimately will have been

         23  the result of leadership in this Administration and

         24  the leadership in the New York City Police

         25  Department.
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          2                 We are where we want to be because of

          3  that leadership today.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          8  We're going to give you a little rest. We want the

          9  Department of Buildings to feel wanted while they

         10  are here.

         11                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Thank you. I

         12  appreciate that consideration.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Steve, and

         14  I'm forgetting your name?

         15                 MR. KRAMER: Steve Kramer, and Robert

         16  Iulo.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Are there any

         18  mechanisms within the Department of Buildings that

         19  would allow for the review of building plant

         20  submissions and follow-up input by interested

         21  agencies, such as the NYPD, particularly where large

         22  scale developments and public safety are concerned?

         23                 MR. KRAMER: Well, these are the Port

         24  Authority projects. As you know, the Port Authority,

         25  as a bi-state agency, is not subject to the review
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          2  for compliance with the Building Code or the Zoning

          3  Resolution.

          4                 Nevertheless, the Port Authority has

          5  come to us and made a commitment that it is going to

          6  be actually that a Memorandum of Understanding was

          7  signed, where it has agreed to comply with the

          8  Building Code, and to submit any engineered

          9  solutions to problems presented by the Building Code

         10  to us.

         11                 I think on a more general basis

         12  rather than just in regard to the Port Authority --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Steve, before

         14  you get general, if you could respond specifically

         15  to this building.

         16                 MR. KRAMER: Okay. The design of this

         17  building is not -- the design from a public safety

         18  and counter-terrorism measure, is not something that

         19  is subject to the Building Code.

         20                 Essentially, these type of issues are

         21  left to the owners in discussions with their own

         22  structural engineers, security consultants and the

         23  Police Department.

         24                 Essentially what the building owners

         25  do on this building or on any building is, they come
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          2  to us, to the Buildings Department, in order to

          3  determine whether or not the building complies with

          4  the Code.

          5                 You can take the same building, and

          6  every building in New York City will not be built to

          7  the same specifications. I think it was actually

          8  highlighted by the events of last month when a small

          9  grenade went off outside the British Consulate,

         10  which was just an ordinary office building. What's

         11  important here to note is that the individual tenant

         12  may be the critical factor in determining what the

         13  level of risk is. You could have an ordinary office

         14  building where a software design is taking place.

         15  The design is for video games is one thing, the

         16  design for Department of Defense is another.

         17                 So, the assessment of risk depends

         18  upon who the tenant is, whether it's an iconic

         19  building, as the Deputy Chief stated, the location

         20  of the building, and a whole variety of factors,

         21  which FEMA, the Federal Emergency Management Agency,

         22  NIST, the National Institute of Standards and

         23  Technology, the Police Department and other agencies

         24  are concerned with.

         25                 The other factor which you should
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          2  remember is in addition of course to the owner's

          3  interest and the tenant's interest in order to

          4  attract tenants, of course will be the financing

          5  agency, which someone is going to be putting up $500

          6  million for a building and that building will be

          7  insured, that will also enforce security concerns to

          8  be taken into account.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I don't have

         10  to tell you what's going on with the model code

         11  right now.

         12                 But could you maybe describe a little

         13  bit what any efforts by the Department of Buildings

         14  to incorporate security measures into the Code?

         15                 MR. KRAMER: Yes. Well, there are

         16  actually a number of things going forward in terms

         17  of amending the Building Code, but all in the

         18  context of the model code.

         19                 Of course the World Trade Center

         20  bill, Local Law 26, which was passed last year, all

         21  of those provisions will be incorporated into the

         22  model code.

         23                 Secondly, there is a Structural

         24  Foundation Committee, which is studying and

         25  considering provisions designed to make buildings
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          2  more resistant against structural failure.

          3                 Again, this type of rule would apply

          4  to all buildings, not just the iconic buildings and

          5  the high-risk buildings, with which I think the

          6  Committee is focusing today.

          7                 Thirdly, there will be a series of

          8  elevator enhancements. The new code will require

          9  impact resistant car enclosures, and additional

         10  communications more than provided for in the

         11  existing code, between the elevator cars and the

         12  lobby.

         13                 Fourth, the model code also has a

         14  Fire Protection Committee, which is considered

         15  improved sprinkler, smoke control and fireproofing

         16  requirements in buildings.

         17                 You may recall that some of those

         18  issues were also addressed in Local Law 26 last

         19  year, there was a retroactive provision for

         20  sprinklering all commercial buildings over 100 feet

         21  tall.

         22                 And then finally, in the model code

         23  program there's a risk in security advisory

         24  committee. That committee has experts from, of

         25  course, the Police Department, Homeland Security,
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          2  the OEM, Office of Emergency Management, the Port

          3  Authority and private industry to analyze threats

          4  posed by terrorism and natural disasters, as well.

          5                 The community right now is focusing

          6  on fuel tanks in considering standards to make them

          7  more resistant to fire and explosion.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: And Council

          9  Member Gerson brought up the issue of external

         10  evacuation, which, again, I think would be again

         11  under the jurisdiction of the Department of

         12  Buildings, if and when they consider --

         13                 MR. KRAMER: To the best of my

         14  recollection, your Committee did hold a hearing on

         15  that last year.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Right.

         17                 MR. KRAMER: The biggest, most

         18  research on that issue actually has been in Israel

         19  and the manufacturers of several different devices

         20  to come to the City and have been presenting their

         21  designs.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Just one more

         23  question.

         24                 In your opinion, would the adoption

         25  of a model building code facilitate the
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          2  incorporation of added and necessary security

          3  measures into the design and construction phase of

          4  all large scale developments in this City?

          5                 MR. KRAMER: To a limited extent. But

          6  I think it is important to recognize for buildings

          7  such as the Freedom Tower, I suggest that

          8  extraordinary measures will be proposed which are

          9  not the type of measures we would want to impose on

         10  all buildings in the City. Because it would be

         11  economically prohibitive.

         12                 I think what you would want to do is

         13  focus on those issues that, you know, we've learned

         14  a great deal through the events of 9/11 and the

         15  National Institute of Standards and Technology is

         16  continuing to study that to make further

         17  recommendations, which we are participating in

         18  seminars and conferences which they are holding. And

         19  my view, one of the best aspects of the model code

         20  program is the fact that every three years it will

         21  be subject to review so that as that best design

         22  practices and standards are developed, we can put

         23  them in the Building Code because this is an

         24  evolving, absolutely an evolving issue.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I really just
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          2  wanted to get all those plugs in for the model code.

          3  You realize that.

          4                 Just I guess a comment, which is

          5  probably obvious to everybody, but it's kind of

          6  hitting me in the eye, NYPD too, I guess the reason

          7  for the added security and concern and whatever is

          8  because it is the Freedom Tower and that's again

          9  what makes it different from some of the other

         10  developments, as you said, in the City that would

         11  be, you know, just businesses or what have you.

         12                 I thank all of you. I'm pretty much

         13  finished, but I think Council Member Gerson has

         14  another question for?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Don't worry,

         16  Chief, DOB.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Oh, you could

         18  rest, Chief.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: But just two

         20  follow-ups of the question of my Chair.

         21                 First of all, you testified that DOB

         22  has no legal jurisdiction due to the fact this is on

         23  Port Authority land, with respect to the Freedom

         24  Tower, nevertheless, and I'll combine the two into

         25  one question, (a) has DOB been involved in this kind
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          2  of roundtable? Have you been present at any of the

          3  discussions about which Chief Colgan testified

          4  earlier?

          5                 And (b) whether or not you have been

          6  present, is it your understanding that the Freedom

          7  Tower will meet New York City Building Code

          8  requirements, in fact, as a minimum threshold, you

          9  know, with the understanding that in many ways, at

         10  least, it will exceed and go beyond the Building

         11  Code?

         12                 Another way of phrasing it is, are

         13  there any aspects of the Building Code which you

         14  think will not be fulfilled by the, from what you

         15  know about the Freedom Tower?

         16                 MR. KRAMER: Well, in answer to your

         17  first question, the (a) part of your question, we

         18  have not been present at the discussions at the

         19  Police Department and Port Authority.

         20                 But in answer to your second

         21  question, the Port Authority has assured us, both in

         22  writing and, of course, publicly they've made

         23  numerous statements, that the provisions of the

         24  Building Code will be met or exceeded, and that

         25  indeed is what the Chief told us today.
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          2                 I think that you will see that for, I

          3  think in the future, on high visibility buildings,

          4  whether it be the Freedom Tower or 7 World Trade

          5  Center or private structures, tenants are going to

          6  demand for high visibility buildings meeting

          7  standards that are in excess of codes.

          8                 I think you're going to see that,

          9  and, you know, we certainly will expect to be seeing

         10  it.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And, Chief,

         12  just two quick follow-ups. I believe they're quick,

         13  but you'll be the determiner of that.

         14                 The tunnel issue, the decision not to

         15  have the tunnel, not to tunnel West Street, did that

         16  play a -- to what extent was that a factor in the

         17  NYPD's assessment, reassessment of the structural

         18  security of the proposed Freedom Tower?

         19                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: It's only one

         20  element for consideration. There are many ways to

         21  achieve the end state that we recommended should be

         22  met.

         23                 With or without it, that end state

         24  can be met.

         25                 So, in our view, that was only one of
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          2  many options.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: But is it

          4  accurate in reviewing the history that the

          5  discussion of the tunnel or that that issue needed

          6  to be included before you could make your final, you

          7  know, assessment and determination.

          8                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: I wouldn't say

          9  that. I would say what I said, that it's one

         10  element. If P, then Q then R, if not P, then maybe

         11  S, T, U and V.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay.

         13                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: The bottom line

         14  --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: With or

         16  without the tunnel?

         17                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: In its totality

         18  do we have the end state? Do we get to the point

         19  where we need to be? Do we go from the descriptive

         20  where we are to the normative where we need to be in

         21  one or another ways. With the tunnel was just one

         22  way. Without it presents other options and

         23  alternatives.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So, security

         25  to the community or to the occupants will no way be
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          2  compromised by a lack of tunnel?

          3                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Absolutely not.

          4  Absolutely not.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And then

          6  finally, you testified earlier as to your

          7  assessment, vis-a-vis, or you testified earlier as

          8  to different threat levels, different types and

          9  degrees of threats against which you evaluate the

         10  structural security. The threat possibilities,

         11  without going into detail for the obvious reasons,

         12  are they informed by federal intelligent assessments

         13  as to the international situation or strictly

         14  locally? Or to what extent, in other words, are

         15  those assessments informed by military and federal

         16  information and input?

         17                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: They are

         18  informed by the same venues for intelligence

         19  information dissemination that any federal entity

         20  you would care to discuss would use.

         21                 Those intelligence community is the

         22  intelligence community.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So we're going

         24  to build something that in the end of the day

         25  matches at least federal security standards for its
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          2  sensitive --

          3                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: We are going to

          4  see, I believe, built in the City of New York, a

          5  structure that redefines the process by which

          6  elegance, sleekness and beauty are combined with

          7  security and robust, rigorous architectural

          8  engineering standards.

          9                 As I said before, this is a very

         10  special special requirements building. And where

         11  needed we will meet or exceed based on our

         12  recommendations and representations made to accept

         13  them, Department of State standards. Where not

         14  necessary, we will meet DOD and GSA interagency

         15  security committee standards. And with those

         16  agreements, we reached our consensus and we're very

         17  happy with those agreements.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, I look

         19  forward to getting the job with your continued input

         20  and with the continued input and leadership by all

         21  who have been involved and will be affected, of

         22  course, including the Lower Manhattan community.

         23  And, again, we look forward to working with you.

         24                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Elegance,
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          2  sleekness and beauty, sounds like you're describing

          3  my co-chair, or another Council member who just

          4  showed up, Melinda Katz.

          5                 Do you have any questions, Ms. Katz?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: No.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: No, okay.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Actually,

          9  Melinda, we have --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I don't know

         11  whether I should feel left out, or if that's a

         12  sexist --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: You wouldn't

         14  want to go there, it's okay.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: It was personal.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Melinda, we

         17  actually have to get a vote from you.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Do you want

         20  me to read the reso?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: No, I know the

         22  reso. I signed the sheet, and I vote aye.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay. Thank

         24  you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I just have one
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          2  last question. You mentioned in your testimony that

          3  you worked with other private buildings; how often

          4  does that happen, does the Police Department work

          5  with private developments?

          6                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Regularly. And

          7  we don't routinely publicly discuss it for obvious

          8  reasons, because we don't want to be in a position

          9  where private entities, be they building owners,

         10  managers, developers, property, industry, business,

         11  roundtable representatives feel that expressing

         12  their concerns or requesting information will put

         13  them at a deficit if any fears that might be

         14  unwarranted or raised by prospective tenants.

         15                 But to directly answer your question,

         16  Mr. Chairman, it is routine for Inspector O'Neal,

         17  who is seated to my right, as Commanding Officer of

         18  the Counter-Terrorism Division, to meet, along with

         19  myself, Deputy Commissioner Sheehan, and other

         20  responsible parties in the Police Department, those

         21  people who are interested in ensuring that they're

         22  expanse structures will be operated in a way that's

         23  consistent with the threat.

         24                 If you recall, and I'm sure you will,

         25  in August of last year there was a heightened threat
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          2  nationally to the financial services industry. We

          3  worked very closely with the Downtown East Side,

          4  West Side financial district, the Midtown district,

          5  and we had literally dozens of corporate sector

          6  clients coming to us, asking for advice, and they

          7  put their money where their mouth is, we are happy

          8  to see that, frequently. There is a robust process

          9  in place by which DOT, NYPD and other entities in

         10  the Administration look at interim and final

         11  security plans, for those facilities.

         12                 So, this is a matter of routine in

         13  the Police Department and it's worked fairly well.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I think robust

         15  might describe you, Alan, okay? Robust, are you

         16  happy with that one?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Coming from

         18  you, I'll accept that.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Now, I know if

         20  they violate the Building Code obviously you have a

         21  say, but let's say you have a recommendation that a

         22  private developer would not want to follow? How

         23  would that be resolved?

         24                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Well, it's a

         25  function of the criticality of the issue. But I
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          2  would say this, one, we've never had it happen. Two,

          3  we probably have more attorneys in the northeast

          4  than on the rest of the planet. I've heard that

          5  articulated to me by friends of mine who teach at

          6  Fordham Law School, and we would suspect that a

          7  letter from the Police Department to the owners of

          8  those facilities would produce a written record that

          9  we would have evidence of that we think would be

         10  inclined to move them to a different path.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I would agree.

         12                 We have one more panel, so we do what

         13  to thank you, Commissioner Colgan, for coming down

         14  here to testify.

         15                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Thanks for the

         16  promotion, but I'm merely a Deputy --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Deputy

         18  Commissioner. Others were invited, despite the fact

         19  that they say they weren't invited apparently, but

         20  many others were invited and refused to come down

         21  here and answer the questions. You did.

         22                 We all hope you don't have to eat

         23  your shoes, but we also do hope that this Tower,

         24  that there is some progress being made in the future

         25  of this Tower by the people who were in charge of
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          2  this, who are not the people in this room, not New

          3  York City, but the State. So, thank you for coming

          4  down, and we look forward to working with you.

          5                 DEPUTY CHIEF COLGAN: Thank you very

          6  much, Chair, Madam Chair, and members of the

          7  Council.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Our next panel,

          9  and last panel, consists of Sally Regenhard, from

         10  the Skyscraper Safety Campaign, JoCo Calderon, also

         11  from the Skyscraper Campaign, and Dennis McKeon from

         12  Where to Turn.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: We've also

         14  been joined by Council Member Brewer.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Welcome, Ms.

         16  Regenhard. It's good to see you here again.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Gale, we're

         18  going to give you a job as long as you're here. We

         19  need your vote on Reso No. -- Do you want me to read

         20  it for you?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: No.

         22                 Yes on all.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay, thank

         24  you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Sally, it's good
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          2  to see you here again.

          3                 You've been at many of our hearings,

          4  and we always appreciate your input, and I think I

          5  may have misidentified the person you are with as

          6  JoCo and it may be J.C.?

          7                 MS. REGENHARD: J.C. Calderon --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.

          9                 MS. REGENHARD: -- Is an architect,

         10  and he's one of the technical advisory people of the

         11  Skyscraper Safety Campaign. And Dennis McKeon from

         12  Staten Island, is Executive Director of Where To

         13  Turn, and he is also of Skyscraper Safety Campaign

         14  supporter.

         15                 Good afternoon to you all. As the

         16  illustrious Ronald Reagan once said, "Here we go

         17  again."

         18                 The Skyscraper Safety Campaign is

         19  gravely concerned that the Port Authority of New

         20  York and New Jersey are misleading the public

         21  regarding the Freedom Tower.

         22                 While we support the revitalization

         23  of Downtown New York City, we cannot have progress

         24  at the price of public safety.

         25                 The fundamental issue regarding the
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          2  current Freedom Tower Security issue is that the

          3  Port Authority is exempt and immune from the process

          4  of documentation and oversight of City agencies, and

          5  thus, the World Trade Center development will

          6  operate in a clandestine manner, aloof from the

          7  jurisdiction of New York City and all of you people

          8  sitting here today.

          9                 You know that, it's an old story, it

         10  was the story in 2001, and unless you and other

         11  elected officials put a stop to it, it will be the

         12  story once again.

         13                 The unalterable truth regarding the

         14  Tower and the future World Trade Center is that the

         15  entire complex will be as totally immune from all

         16  New York City Building and Fire Department Codes, as

         17  the former World Trade Center was.

         18                 The NIST Investigation, a $16 million

         19  two-year examination of the World Trade Center

         20  collapse will be issuing its findings and

         21  recommendations later this month. If you're

         22  interested in what they are, come to the Marriott

         23  Financial Center on June 23rd, 10:00 a.m., they will

         24  be discussing why and how the World Trade Center

         25  collapsed and their findings and recommendations.
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          2                 The Skyscraper Safety Campaign says

          3  how can we aggressively rebuild the World Trade

          4  Center before we even know how or why the former

          5  buildings collapsed, and more importantly, before we

          6  know what role Port Authority immunities played in

          7  this collapse, because of the Port Authority's

          8  exemptions and immunities from codes and

          9  liabilities, the Port Authority claimed in open

         10  court last year, in their own words they stated "The

         11  Port Authority does not have a duty of care for the

         12  safety or well-being of anyone in their buildings

         13  because of their exemptions and immunities from

         14  codes.

         15                 That is the truth. A matter of public

         16  record. You can look it up in the Supreme Court

         17  documents of the wrongful death claims of the

         18  families of 9/11. That is a disgrace. That is a

         19  crime.

         20                 Well, the Freedom Tower is being

         21  touted as "the safest building in the world."

         22  Contrary, the truth is that it will be a building

         23  that will be above the law.

         24                 The Skyscraper Safety Campaign asks

         25  how can a building that is exempt from all New York
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          2  City codes be proven to be safe?

          3                 Why should we trust an organization,

          4  the Port Authority, that openly states it is not

          5  responsible for human life in its building?

          6                 In addition, an environmentally

          7  friendly or Green building does not equate to a safe

          8  building, regardless of what Mr. Larry Silverstein

          9  says.

         10                 The World Trade Center complex will

         11  once again enjoy Port Authority exemptions and will

         12  be immune from the oversight and enforcement powers

         13  of the City of New York and the Fire Department.

         14  This should not be allowed, period.

         15                 The Skyscraper Safety is deeply

         16  disturbed that "safety for firefighters" has been

         17  alluded to by the Port Authority. The truth is that

         18  the Fire Department will be powerless to enforce any

         19  code violations, and in essence will repeat history

         20  in the construction of the World Trade Center.

         21                 The Port Authority and Governor

         22  Pataki are truly concerned with firefighter safety

         23  and the safety and security of the public, these

         24  buildings should be built under the legal

         25  jurisdiction of the New York City Buildings and Fire
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          2  Department. Why would they want to do anything else.

          3                 Why is this being allowed by Governor

          4  Pataki and Mayor Bloomberg, as well as other New

          5  York elected officials? And I have to say here, I

          6  must give credit where credit is due. Love him or

          7  not loving him, Mayor Bloomberg should be commended

          8  for him and his Police Commissioner to stand up to

          9  the Port Authority and the LMDC for this atrocity

         10  that they were about to put over on the public.

         11                 I'll conclude by saying, one year ago

         12  representatives from New York, New Jersey and

         13  Connecticut Congressional Delegations, and including

         14  some people, City Council members who are sitting

         15  here today, sent letters to Governor Pataki, urging

         16  an end to Port Authority immunities for the new

         17  World Trade Center.

         18                 It is time for him to now disclose

         19  why he is allowing the safety of the public and the

         20  Fire Department to be put at risk once more.

         21                 It is time for the City Council to

         22  insist that these buildings are safely designed and

         23  constructed, as well as being safe from a terrorist

         24  attack.

         25                 The real people who you should have
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          2  been questioning failed to show up in their insulin,

          3  in their immunities and in their exemptions.

          4                 The people that you were questioning

          5  here, are not the people who should be responsible.

          6  The Port Authority is responsible.

          7                 Finally, I'll say to you, I heard

          8  many comments here today, if you don't want more

          9  people like 343 to die a needless death, the next

         10  time around, the next time a Port Authority building

         11  gets attacked, you will do the right thing, stand up

         12  and insist, stop the talking, stop the discussions,

         13  we've been doing this for three and a half years,

         14  insist that the Port Authority renounce their

         15  exemptions and immunities, put this development

         16  under the legal jurisdiction of New York City

         17  building and Fire Codes, and that's the end of the

         18  story.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Sally, thank

         21  you. I know you have testimony but I have to leave,

         22  I have a 3:00 appointment. But I just wanted to make

         23  some comments before I leave.

         24                 As always, Sally, you've been a good

         25  friend for a long time and I'm happy to see you here
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          2  again.

          3                 MS. REGENHARD: And you, too. Thank

          4  you for your work with the Building Code. It's very

          5  important.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          7                 You make a lot of good points, and

          8  one of the thoughts I had as you spoke was maybe at

          9  this juncture we could ask, Steve Kramer did say

         10  that there's an MOU between the Department of

         11  Buildings and the Port Authority, we might want to

         12  start by taking a look at that.

         13                 MS. REGENHARD: I just want to say,

         14  Ms. Provenzano, and I know Mr. Gerson, also who has

         15  attempted to be helpful, and so on, an MOU is not

         16  worth the paper it's written on. I'm sure we have

         17  lawyers here who could attest to that, and maybe

         18  some of you are lawyers. It's worth nothing.

         19                 The Port Authority in the City of New

         20  York had an MOU about the first World Trade Center

         21  and we all know what happened there. That was never

         22  acceptable. The Skyscraper Safety Campaign walked

         23  out on negotiations with the Port Authority. The

         24  bottom line is no MOU is ever going to assure

         25  anything. The only thing that they can do is go
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          2  under your jurisdiction. No building in this City

          3  should be above the law. We shouldn't allow them to

          4  do it either.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Very good.

          6  Fine.

          7                 JC, I've glanced over your testimony,

          8  and it's good to see you again, too. And I thank you

          9  for your comments about the Code. I know you've been

         10  very helpful in that area, as has Sally and the rest

         11  of you. Thank you.

         12                 I'm sorry I have to leave but I have

         13  a 3:00 meeting at 250. You know you can call me.

         14                 MS. REGENHARD: Yes, thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Just before you

         17  begin, Sally, I don't think you were here during our

         18  openings, or were you?

         19                 I just don't want you to think we let

         20  the State off the hook because we're very upset.

         21                 MS. REGENHARD: I know that.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You're

         23  absolutely right that they should be here. I called

         24  it for what it is, it's contempt for the people of

         25  New York City.
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          2                 MS. REGENHARD: Yes, it is.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I don't know if

          4  you were here, but I wanted you to know that we did

          5  say that.

          6                 MS. REGENHARD: Yes, it is. Yes, it

          7  is.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.

          9                 MS. REGENHARD: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: J.C.

         11                 MR. CALDERON: Thank you, Chairperson

         12  Vallone and Chairperson Provenzano.

         13                 Good afternoon, Chairpersons

         14  Provenzano and Vallone, members of the Committee on

         15  Housing and Buildings Public Safety, City Council

         16  Members, distinguished speakers and ladies and

         17  gentlemen. Thank you, again, for the opportunity to

         18  speak today on the matter of security on the Freedom

         19  Tower. My name is J.C. Calderone. I speak as a

         20  member of the Professional Advisory Panel, as Sally

         21  mentioned, and I'm here to lend support to comments

         22  made by Sally. I'm a practicing architect in New

         23  York. I'm a member of the AIA in New York and a

         24  member of the Columbian Society of Architects in New

         25  York, and I've spoken at three previous public
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          2  forums sponsored by the Building Department.

          3                 At first I would just like to thank

          4  Chairperson Provenzano for submitting Intro. 478

          5  last November, in support of the Mayor's Advisory

          6  Commission and recommendations to adopt the

          7  International Code Council's IBC for New York City.

          8  As you will recall, the Buildings Commissioner

          9  Patricia Lancaster at that hearing last November

         10  stated that "A Building Code is truly the backbone

         11  of a City."

         12                 Our City's Building Code is the

         13  foundation upon which the safety, security and

         14  economic viability of our City are maintained and

         15  must be rock solid.

         16                 Ms. Lancaster also pointed out that

         17  "Under State law, New York City's Building Code

         18  governs in the City, however, in accordance with the

         19  provision in the State Executive Law, the State Fire

         20  Prevention and Building Code Council has the power

         21  to evaluate the City Building Code.

         22                 If it finds that the overall City

         23  Code is significantly less stringent than the State

         24  Code, it may act to require compliance with the

         25  State Building and Fire Prevention Code in the City.
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          2                 In other words, New York State

          3  legally has the right to enforce State Code in New

          4  York City if it is deemed appropriate. Then why is

          5  there no provision currently or power within New

          6  York State or City with regards to enforcement of

          7  codes by the Port Authority.

          8                 If Governor Pataki does not intervene

          9  to end what is seen as the Port Authority's

         10  immunity, what will the City Council act to change

         11  what is clearly not in the interest of New York

         12  City?

         13                 How is it possible that all of the

         14  security and safety changes we are currently

         15  witnessing will again be legally applicable to the

         16  entire City of New York but not to the World Trade

         17  Center and other areas controlled by the Port

         18  Authority.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: J.C., do you

         20  have any suggestions before you move on?

         21                 What will the City Council do? And as

         22  far as I understand it, legally we are preempted,

         23  once the State has ruled in this and they have taken

         24  a position. I would love to put a law in that says

         25  they are subject to our Building Code Jurisdiction.
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          2  As far as I know, we can't.

          3                 Do you have any suggestions?

          4                 MR. CALDERON: I think like your press

          5  release from today, Mr. Vallone, clearly states, you

          6  have the power to speak out and condemn or criticize

          7  what the State's actions are, or are not being done,

          8  and I commend you for this press release,

          9  criticizing the State's refusal to testify today.

         10                 Again, just for the record, how is it

         11  that recent changes to the Fire Resistance Codes for

         12  High-Rise Construction will not be legally

         13  applicable to the Freedom Tower?

         14                 Larry Silverstein has gone on record

         15  to assure that the World Trade Center will

         16  incorporate the greater security measures to date,

         17  but by which guidelines will this be confirmed?

         18                 And the irony of it all is that when

         19  you consider Ground Zero not legally binded by these

         20  new codes, when it was in fact Ground Zero that was

         21  the impetus for these new codes.

         22                 The Port Authority is clearly the

         23  semi-governmental, semi-private status, and may not

         24  legally require it to follow local codes, and the

         25  Port Authority's position to voluntarily meet or
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          2  exceed the new codes and its willingness to sign

          3  memorandums of understanding, clearly is not

          4  acceptable morally or ethically.

          5                 In ending, in an age when we are all

          6  governed by laws and in light of the so-called war

          7  on terrorism, the Port Authority's volunteerism is

          8  not just arrogant but anachronistic.

          9                 How is it possible that in 2005, the

         10  Port Authority remains above the laws of the City

         11  and State? Is it not the New York City Fire

         12  Department's legal requirement to save lives in the

         13  case of a future emergency at Freedom Tower?

         14                 Would anyone grant the Fire

         15  Department the option to voluntarily save lives?

         16                 At this point I would just state that

         17  I think it is time for the City Council to insist in

         18  some way whether or not they can legally enforce

         19  that position to insist that the Port Authority be

         20  accountable to the legal jurisdiction of the New

         21  York City Buildings and Fire Departments. Future

         22  generations will certainly come to thank you for the

         23  decisions you make today.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you, J.C.,

         25  and we agree completely. And we do try to shine a
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          2  light, that's what we're doing today, and that's

          3  what you do every day with Sally and your entire

          4  Skyscraper organization. We do it because it's our

          5  job, but you do it for a more normal purpose, so we

          6  thank you for what you do every day.

          7                 This is what we can do, what's

          8  happening here today, shine a light on the arrogance

          9  and incompetence on the State level. And, you know,

         10  it's not just the Port Authority, it's the MTA also.

         11                 I had a hearing a few weeks ago

         12  jointly with the Transportation Committee, probably

         13  where these high exit and entrance turnstyles in the

         14  subway systems, they violate every Fire Code, and

         15  they were just a disaster waiting to happen and they

         16  are not subject to our Fire Codes because of some

         17  sort of anomalous State-type agency, which will

         18  lead, again, to the loss of lives until Pataki takes

         19  some action and shows some real leadership and

         20  allows us to have a say down here.

         21                 I agree with everything you said, so

         22  I don't really have any questions.

         23                 Do you, Council Member Gerson?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you

         25  very, very much, Mr. Chair.
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          2                 And thank you all for your testimony.

          3  It's been a privilege for me to be able to work with

          4  you on this important quest.

          5                 Why don't you go ahead.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Sorry, I didn't

          7  realize you were going to make a statement also, and

          8  then we'll go back to Alan. I got a little

          9  distracted. Thanks.

         10                 MR. McKEON: Chairman Vallone, Council

         11  members, my name is Dennis McKeon, I'm the Executive

         12  Director of Where To Turn, which is an outgrowth of

         13  the St. Clare's World Trade Center Outreach Program

         14  on Staten Island.

         15                 I've been involved with Sally in the

         16  Skyscrapers Safety Campaign since its very

         17  beginning, and I just -- Sally asked me to come here

         18  just to talk to you a little about the family

         19  members that I have been dealing with over the past

         20  four years, and the fact that I have a press release

         21  here from the Port Authority, and I'm just going to

         22  read a line from it.

         23                 And it says the agency will retain

         24  the oversight of the complex's building fire,

         25  environmental health codes and the integrity of the
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          2  physical plants.

          3                 We will continue to protect the

          4  outstanding public asset, so that it will flourish

          5  in the years to come, okay?

          6                 This is a press release from July

          7  24th, 2001, and this was released when the World

          8  Trade Center was privatized and given over to

          9  Silverstein Properties.

         10                 Now, I think legally you talk about

         11  getting the Governor involved, because it's Port

         12  Authority, the Governor has no say in what codes the

         13  Port Authority uses. The Port Authority was created

         14  by a federal act, okay? So any change would have to

         15  go through the federal government.

         16                 All the Governors of New York and New

         17  Jersey are put people on the Board of Directors of

         18  the Port Authority. They have no right to change the

         19  codes.

         20                 The problem I think that you can help

         21  us with is you heard numerous testimony today

         22  they're going to abide or exceed the new codes that

         23  we're trying to put together here in the City of New

         24  York.

         25                 We have been asking for four years
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          2  for a copy of their codes, all right? So that we

          3  could compare them with the current New York City

          4  Building and Fire Codes, and they have refused to

          5  turn over a copy of their codes.

          6                 So, what I'm here today to ask this

          7  City Council is, can you please get us a copy of the

          8  Port Authority's Building and Fire Codes as they

          9  exist today, so that we can compare them to the New

         10  York City Building and Fire Codes.

         11                 And as I said, we've been asking for

         12  four years for this.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And we will

         14  absolutely request that. Whether they will honor

         15  that request is another story. As you know, they're

         16  very imperialistic, but we will request that for

         17  you.

         18                 MR. McKEON: Okay.

         19                 And one final thing I want to bring

         20  up as to the aspect of how they say they're going to

         21  change. One of the concerns with the Freedom Tower

         22  was the fact of the amount of grass that was being

         23  used on the first 20 stories of the Freedom Tower.

         24                 Now, in a terrorist attack, 80

         25  percent of people either killed or injured are

                                                            93

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY AND HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  injured because of glass, and with the whole aspect

          3  of, you know, vehicular bombs and things that were

          4  brought up earlier today, that concern was brought

          5  up to the Port Authority, and their immediate

          6  response was not to determine what they would do to

          7  correct that problem, but to see how many additional

          8  stories they would have to add to the Freedom Tower

          9  so they could get that window space higher up, if

         10  they lost it on the ground floor.

         11                 So, that tells you where their

         12  concerns are. Their concerns are not about the

         13  residents of New York City, they're not about the

         14  tenants of the building, their concerns are the

         15  bottom dollar, just like when they promised early on

         16  that nothing would be built on the footprints, but

         17  you saw how quickly they needed to build that

         18  railway station on the footprints so that they could

         19  generate their dollar.

         20                 So, that's my concern, and as I said,

         21  I'm just here to support Sally.

         22                 Thank you very much for your time.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you,

         24  all. And I was, Mr. Chair, disturbed to hear the

         25  Department of Buildings in response to a question
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          2  say that they have not even been at the table. They

          3  have not participated in the same discussions that

          4  NYPD has, and I think that reflects the type of

          5  outrage that all of these witnesses are testifying

          6  to, and I can see Sally wants to add something to

          7  that so I'll pause.

          8                 MS. REGENHARD: You don't have to be

          9  at a table when you're exempt and immune. When you

         10  don't answer to anyone, you don't have to be at the

         11  table.

         12                 And I'll add to Dennis's statement

         13  about looking for their building codes, they did not

         14  provide the blueprints of the first World Trade

         15  Center to the NIST federal investigation or the 9/11

         16  Commission, nor did they provide their codes.

         17                 So, I'm sorry to say, you could ask

         18  but don't hold your breath. This has to be changed.

         19  Authorities were created by Robert Moses.

         20                 Now, I know he did a lot of good

         21  things, but you know what? You create things, you

         22  change things. We can make amendments to the United

         23  States Constitution, the law of the land, you know,

         24  maybe it's about time to dismantle these

         25  authorities, especially an authority like the Port
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          2  Authority which has stepped out of its original

          3  Charter and gone into commercial real estate. They

          4  were never chartered to do that, they were chartered

          5  to monitor bridges and tunnels and transportation.

          6  There is no other authority and they exist in every

          7  state in this country that has had the hutspa to

          8  step out and go and take these immunities into the

          9  public sector and commercial real estate and to put

         10  the lives of the public in danger.

         11                 So, that's something that we can do.

         12  Let's just stop the Port Authority, in this sense

         13  only when it comes to commercial development, take

         14  away their immunities. Let them keep immunities. If

         15  you want to drive into the Holland Tunnel or you

         16  want to go somewhere, okay, it's immune. But don't

         17  let them continue this in the public sector.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I want to go

         19  back, and I think you're right on target, and I want

         20  to go back to a point raised and question posed by

         21  my Chair Peter Vallone, as to what we can do or

         22  should do from the City Council.

         23                 We certainly could hold hearings and

         24  shed light. We certainly can issue press releases

         25  and join you in demonstrations and press
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          2  conferences, and we will. Mr. Chair, I am prepared

          3  to work with you on a resolution calling for,

          4  formally calling for the changes outlined by these

          5  witnesses, and I have a feeling the Council will

          6  wind up adopting such a resolution, but it is a

          7  non-binding resolution.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I've already

          9  instructed my counsel, and it will be co-sponsored

         10  by both of us, and we'll ask Madeline Provenzano to

         11  do exactly that, to put a resolution in to change

         12  the State Charter, to look into what form these

         13  agencies and let's change it to make it responsive

         14  to, even if it has to be responsive to the State,

         15  it's better that they're responsive to somebody.

         16                 MR. McKEON: Can I just say one thing?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Sure.

         18                 MR. McKEON: Could I also ask you to

         19  publicly -- the City Council just publicly ask for a

         20  copy of the Port Authority's Building and Fire Code?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I've already

         22  sent that letter. I've sent a letter to the MTA

         23  requesting the exact same thing, and it's been

         24  months and we have not heard back, so as I said I'm

         25  not holding my breath.
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          2                 MS. REGENHARD: And then finally I

          3  wanted to ask, in addition to the Resolution, I'm

          4  inviting every member of the City Council to join

          5  the Skyscraper Safety Campaign, and some members of

          6  Congress, and Fire Unions.

          7                 Last year, as Mr. Gerson knows very

          8  well, we filed a lawsuit against the Port Authority

          9  in an effort to force them to renounce their

         10  Building and Fire Codes.

         11                 We lost the case in court, not

         12  because of the merits of the case, but because the

         13  judge said because the building had not been built,

         14  we cannot demonstrate that the safety of the public

         15  is at risk.

         16                 I guess we have to wait, you know,

         17  until people are killed.

         18                 We are planning to reinstitute our

         19  lawsuit against the Port Authority, based on the

         20  revelations of the Freedom Tower debacle, and I

         21  would invite every member of the City Council to

         22  sign on with us to do what is right and to force

         23  them to renounce their immunities and their

         24  exemptions.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I would like
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          2  to add one point, and we certainly can do that, we

          3  obviously need to see the lawsuit, but we can do all

          4  of that, and it will ultimately, I believe have an

          5  impact, including our resolution.

          6                 However, as you know, because this

          7  requires State action, while we're doing this,

          8  they're going to go ahead with building on the

          9  Ground Zero site.

         10                 MS. REGENHARD: That's right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay. So,

         12  shouldn't we, at the same time as we do everything

         13  else, shouldn't we try strategically and take at

         14  least a partial step where -- and I know an MOU is

         15  not the answer, maybe something a little stronger

         16  than an MOU, but whereas we try and get something in

         17  writing, we try and sit down and require them to

         18  meet on a regular basis with a Committee which

         19  includes you or your representatives. So, being at

         20  the table is not the same as having a jurisdictional

         21  control, but it's better than not being at the table

         22  at all. It's a lot easier to get at some of the

         23  information that you want, I would submit.

         24                 So, I leave this with you to ponder.

         25  We don't have to decide this, because we've had this
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          2  conversation, I know.

          3                 MS. REGENHARD: This is de javu all

          4  over again.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: It is, but in

          6  a way we're back because of the delays and they're

          7  starting all over again. And I just suggest, as we

          8  move forward with everything else, in order to

          9  assure for the sake of what is going to happen there

         10  imminently, that we try and insert ourselves as best

         11  we can into the process through that type of

         12  approach. And I would certainly feel a lot better if

         13  you were at a table, in addition to at this witness

         14  table, I urge you to at least think about that.

         15                 MS. REGENHARD: Okay. Mr. Gerson, I

         16  know you might feel better, but I would feel really,

         17  really bad if I were going to go against my

         18  principals and my experience. The thing is it would

         19  be window dressing, it would be an exercise in

         20  futility.

         21                 Trying, you know in the 12-step

         22  programs there's some slogans, and one of the

         23  slogans is "trying is lying." You know, we can try

         24  but they will lie. And they've done it before and

         25  they will continue to do so. So, you know, there's a
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          2  biblical saying which is do not cast your pearls

          3  among swine. I think that any group that put the

          4  public at risk. Any organization that could build

          5  the tallest and largest building in the world

          6  holding 50,000 people and not put sprinklers in

          7  there, when that building was first opened, I have

          8  utter contempt for the Port Authority of New York

          9  and New Jersey and that's because, because of the

         10  lack of Building and Fire Codes in those buildings.

         11  My son, 343 firefighters, and nearly 3,000 people

         12  are dead, and you know what? That's the bottom line.

         13  We know the terrorists did it, they attacked it,

         14  those buildings never should have collapsed in the

         15  amount of time that they did, there are so many

         16  reasons why it starts with the Port Authority

         17  immunities and exemptions and it ends with that. It

         18  starts with money and it ends with money.

         19                 So, thank you for trying, but you

         20  know what? That is not going to do any good.

         21                 Changing the law, the greatest

         22  memorial to these people, changing the law, and you

         23  know what? Then I'll go away and I won't bother

         24  anyone anymore.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: No, don't say
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          2  that because we don't want you to go away.

          3                 Thank you for your ongoing tenacity.

          4                 MS. REGENHARD: Thank you.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And we'll work

          6  with you until we change the law and to do what we

          7  can until then.

          8                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          9                 MR. McKEON: One last point, if I may.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Very quickly.

         11                 MR. McKEON: I think that, as Sally

         12  said, with all of these authorities all over the

         13  country, I do not believe there is another Authority

         14  that has entered in a privatization as did the Port

         15  Authority of New York. So, there may be something

         16  legally on that avenue to pursue as to requiring

         17  them to abide by our codes, because of the fact that

         18  the Silverstein Properties, which is basically one

         19  of the reasons why this whole thing is being held up

         20  that nobody wants to talk about is because they're

         21  waiting to see whether they can get twice the

         22  insurance money from their settlement, and that's

         23  why it's being delayed as well.

         24                 I think that that portion of it

         25  should be pursued as well, that maybe use that angle
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          2  to get them to abide by our codes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you for

          4  that suggestion.

          5                 We do need to go, but as usual, we

          6  agree. I'm not going to repeat what I said in my

          7  opening, and we look forward to working with you on

          8  this.

          9                 If you have any suggestions, let us

         10  know. Chairman Gerson has been involved from the

         11  beginning with this, and Madeline Provenzano, and

         12  we've already come up with a resolution based on

         13  your suggestion. Anything in the future just give us

         14  a call.  On that resolution, Ted Baecher is my

         15  Counsel, my entire staff is sitting back there, they

         16  prepared all the paperwork today and they've done an

         17  excellent job and we're willing to work with you.

         18  So, thank you. I think we've accomplished a lot

         19  today.

         20                 MR. REGENHARD: You're to be commended

         21  for this and every single member of the Council that

         22  signs on is to be commended for that. You know,

         23  there's a lot of power in the word. Another

         24  Biblical. I'm sorry. I went to Catholic school for

         25  12 years, so all this is coming back to me. There's
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          2  a lot of power in the word. Speak the truth, keep on

          3  talking and people are going to listen.

          4                 One of the best things I ever heard

          5  was when Mayor Mike had his press conference the day

          6  after they announced stopping, you know, the

          7  construction of that Freedom Tower, and he said, we

          8  learned nothing from 1993, we lost 3,000 people

          9  needlessly, I said, hey, at least Mayor Mike is

         10  listening to me. So, there's a lot of power in the

         11  word. Keep saying it, and people will listen. Thank

         12  you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         14  Sally. And this meeting of the Public Safety

         15  Committee and the Housing Committee, which needs to

         16  be adjourned by Gale, is adjourned.

         17                 (Hearing concluded at 3:10 p.m.)

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            104

          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 7th day of June 2005.

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.

                                                            105

          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24                 -----------------------

                              CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.

         25

